<u>No. 44847-5-II</u>

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Anthony Brentin,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00005-8

The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Brentin's first-degree theft conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 2. The state introduced insufficient evidence to prove first-degree theft.
- 3. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Brentin unlawfully obtained more than \$5000.
- 4. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Brentin obtained money by color or aid of deception.
- 5. The prosecution failed to prove that the \$500 Faveluke gave Mr. Brentin was anything other than a gift.
- 6. The prosecution failed to prove that the \$500 Faveluke gave Mr. Brentin was obtained by color or aid of deception.
- 7. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Brentin helped his wife defraud Faveluke.

ISSUE 1: A conviction for first-degree theft requires proof that the defendant unlawfully obtained more than \$5000. Here, the state introduced insufficient evidence to meet this threshold. Does Mr. Brentin's first-degree theft conviction violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence is insufficient to prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt?

- 8. The trial judge erred by allowing the state to introduce inadmissible hearsay evidence.
- 9. The trial judge erred by admitting Faveluke's out-of-court statement to Detective Plaza.
- 10. The trial judge misinterpreted ER 803(a)(5) and applied the wrong legal standard for admission of a recorded recollection.
- 11. The trial judge abused his discretion by admitting Faveluke's hearsay statement to Detective Plaza as substantive evidence.

ISSUE 2: A trial court may only admit a recorded recollection if it concerns a matter about which the declarant now has insufficient recollection to enable her to testify fully and accurately. Here, Faveluke testified that she had a better recollection of events at trial than at the time she provided a statement to Detective Plaza. Did the trial court err by admitting Faveluke's hearsay statement to Detective Plaza as substantive evidence under ER 803(a)(5)?

- 12. Mr. Brentin was denied his right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3.
- 13. The trial judge erred by continuing the trial beyond Mr. Brentin's speedy trial expiration date.

ISSUE 3: A court may not continue a case beyond the expiration of speedy trial based on witness unavailability, where the state has not subpoenaed the witness. Here, the court continued Mr. Brentin's trial beyond his speedy trial expiration date based on the unavailability of a state witness who had not been properly subpoenaed. Did the court violate Mr. Brentin's CrR 3.3 right to a speedy trial?

- 14. Mr. Brentin was convicted through the operation of a statute that is unconstitutionally overbroad.
- 15. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on "words" or "encouragement" spoken with knowledge but without intent to promote or facilitate a crime.
- 16. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on "words" or "encouragement" even absent proof that the speech is likely to incite imminent lawless action.
- 17. The trial judge erred by giving Instruction No. 11, which defined accomplice liability to include mere advocacy, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

ISSUE 4: A statute is unconstitutional if it criminalizes speech without proof that the speaker intended to incite crime. The accomplice liability statute criminalizes speech made with knowledge that it will facilitate or promote commission of a crime, even if the speaker lacked the intent to incite imminent

lawless action, and even if the speech was unlikely to incite imminent lawless action. Is the accomplice liability statute unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments?

18. Pursuant to RAP 10.1, Mr. Brentin adopts and incorporates the assignments of error set forth in Ms. Brentin's Opening Brief.

ISSUE 5: Pursuant to RAP 10.1, Mr. Brentin adopts and incorporates the issues set forth in Ms. Brentin's Opening Brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Susan Faveluke was a generous and eccentric figure in Woodland, Washington. In her 70's, she lived alone with her pets, first a dog named Misty Peep, then a cat named Brady. She owned several homes, and shared her wealth generously with the town, donating especially generously to the local fire and police departments. RP 171-172, 174, 177, 179, 228, 268-269, 320-321, 350, 386, 482, 682, 684. In fact, Faveluke kept cash at the ready to give to whoever might ask. RP 673.

Anthony Brentin was the fire chief in Woodland. He met Faveluke, and the two formed a relationship.¹ RP 181, 247, 735-738. She donated to the fire department, possibly as much as \$300,000. RP 124, 138. Faveluke began visiting Mr. Brentin at work. RP 124, 737. When Mr. Brentin retired in 2009, the friendship between both Brentins and Faveluke continued. RP 597, 736.

Faveluke also visited staff at her local bank while on her daily rounds. She often ate at a local restaurant called the Eager Beaver. RP 267, 320, 386, 484, 697.

¹ Faveluke said, and likely believed, that she met Mr. Brentin when he saved her life at the beach . But it didn't happen. RP 244-245, 739.

She gave \$20,000 to the two women who owned the Eager Beaver. She did not have any family or other relationship with them but she did like the restaurant and wanted to make sure its debts were paid off. RP 99-103, 225-227, 480, 483, 494-495. When Faveluke heard that a worker at the restaurant needed to get his teeth fixed, she offered to pay for that as well. RP 93, 145. She later forgot that she had taken these actions and accused the women of fraud. After investigation, no charges were filed. RP 103-104, 145, 160.

In the fall of 2011, Faveluke's beloved dog Misty Peep died. This was a very hard time for Faveluke, and she was not her usual self. She appeared confused, forgetful, and disheveled. RP 270, 273, 281, 324, 387, 633, 807. Not long after her pet's death, she fell and injured herself. She stayed in a nursing care facility for some time. RP 184, 222, 332. Mr. and Mrs. Brentin visited her daily while she was there. They also took care of her house and her cat Brady. RP 223, 232-233, 687, 753. After Faveluke returned home, both Brentins continued to help Faveluke with her daily tasks of eating, bathing, home repair and taking care of various errands around town. RP 224-225, 464-465, 598, 688, 755- 758.

Mrs. Brentin and Faveluke shared a love of animals. RP 177, 234. At one point, Mrs. Brentin became concerned about a vet bill for her cat, and Faveluke offered to pay it. RP 236. This happened more than once.

5

When the money due the vet turned out to be less than what Faveluke had given her, Mrs. Brentin did not return the extra. RP 277-302, 507-516, 536-541, 616. Mrs. Brentin said that she offered to, but that Faveluke insisted she keep it. Faveluke did not remember that. RP 236-237, 615-616, 633.

In June of 2011, Mr. Brentin filed to run for Woodland city council. He did not intend to campaign for the office, but thought he might get elected if no one else filed. RP 743-745, 750, 793.

His former landlord wrote a letter to the editor about the race. The former landlord suggested that Mr. Brentin was not a good candidate. He wrote that Mr. Brentin still owed \$4680.24 to the landlord from a house rental. RP 251, 439, 442, 474, 745.

Faveluke saw the article and offered to pay the debt. Mr. Brentin initially declined. She insisted, and he eventually accepted the money and paid the debt. RP 410, 505-506, 679, 747-748, 751, 796-797. Faveluke told her friend and neighbor that she gave the money to Mr. Brentin because of the article. She said that she wanted Mr. Brentin to pay off his debt so that the issue would not hurt his run for the city council. RP 677-681, 685-686, 697-699.

The state charged Mr. and Mrs. Brentin with theft in the first degree. CP 1-2. The Information alleged that Mr. Brentin "in a series of

transactions which were part of a criminal episode or common scheme or plan, did obtain control over property belonging to Suzanne Faveluke, to wit: United State Currency, of an aggregate value exceeding \$5000, by color or aid of deception, with intent to deprive..." CP 1. The state also charged aggravating factors, alleging that Faveluke was a particularly vulnerable victim, that the offense was a major economic offense. CP 1-2.

The state requested several continuances of the trial. Mr. Brentin did not object to the first three new trial dates. RP 1-6. Trial was finally set for December 3, 2012. On November 29, 2012, the court held a readiness hearing. Once again, the state requested a continuance. The prosecutor claimed that Faveluke would not be available, apparently due to medical issues. RP 8. The state did not provide documentation from her medical caregiver. Despite this, the court found good cause and granted the continuance. RP 9-11. The court set a new trial date for January 7, 2013. RP 10.

At the readiness hearing on January 3, 2013, the state again requested a continuance. Mr. Brentin objected. RP $(1/3/13)^2$ 1. The defense argued that the basis for the state's request was double-hearsay from a person unqualified to give medical opinions. RP (1/3/13) 2. The

² The only portion of the transcript that is not sequentially numbered is from the hearing held on January 3, 2013. This hearing is cited with the date.

court granted the continuance and set the trial for January 28, 2013, telling the prosecutor that any additional continuance requests would only be considered with specific medical information from a provider. RP (1/3/13) 2-3.

January 28, 2013, saw another state request to continue the trial. The prosecutor did not file any information from a medical provider. RP 12-14. Once again, the defense objected. RP 13. The judge indicated that the pending trial date had already been stricken and set a new trial date of March 18, 2013. RP 18-19. Apparently, this date was chosen to ensure that trial took place before Faveluke underwent brain surgery. RP 27.

Trial started on March 19, 2013. RP 33.

Faveluke's testimony differed from her written statement to police. She said that she gave Mr. Brentin \$500 in cash for his campaign, and never mentioned a check for \$5000 for the campaign. RP 187, 171-259. She was asked to review a statement she'd signed. The statement had been written by a police officer. She testified that reviewing the statement did not help her remember events. RP 189-197, 218, 569. When asked, she said her memory was better now – during trial – than it had been when she gave her statement to police. RP 196. She also said that she'd thought "it would be nice" to give money to Mr. Brentin so he could run for office. RP 202-203.

8

Faveluke did remember giving Mrs. Brentin money for her cat, Mr. Socks. She claimed the money was only for the cat's treatment. She felt that she was saving the cat's life. RP 198, 206. She also said that she never spoke with Mr. Brentin about the money she gave for the cat, and that he played no role in the issue. RP 207. In fact, both Faveluke and Mrs. Brentin agreed to keep the information from Mr. Brentin. RP 207. Faveluke acknowledged that she had serious problems with her memory during this period of time [the time she gave Mrs. Brentin the money], but also claimed to have "total recall". RP 231, 244.

Over defense objection, the court admitted the officer's written statement, which had been signed by Faveluke.³ RP 571-593. In the statement, Detective Plaza wrote that Faveluke said she gave Mr. Brentin \$4900 for campaign signs only. RP 591. The statement was admitted as substantive evidence. RP 591-593.

Mr. Brentin moved to dismiss the charge after the state rested. He argued that the state had not proved accomplice liability for Mrs. Brentin's actions. He pointed out that the state had failed to prove that he knew about the money his wife had obtained, that he knew about how she'd obtained it, or that he provided any aid or encouragement. RP 819-

 $^{^{3}}$ The statement was read to the jury by the detective, but the court did not send it back during jury deliberations. RP 589.

835. The state responded that he was guilty because the Brentins were married and he'd received the benefit of the money. The prosecutor argued this evidence was sufficient when considered along with his own actions in obtaining \$4900 to repay his debt. RP 823-827, 833-835. The judge denied the motion, but did note that there was no evidence of "a solicit, a command, an encouragement, or a request.... Probably not enough evidence, direct evidence, for aiding or agreeing to aid another person in planning or committing." RP 837.

The court gave the following instruction on accomplice liability,

over defense objection:

A person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he or she is legally accountable. A person is legally accountable for the conduct of another person when he or she is an accomplice of such other person in the commission of the crime.

A person is an accomplice in the commission of a crime if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she either:

(1) solicits, commands, encourages, or requests another person to commit the crime; or

(2) aids or agrees to aid another person in planning or committing the crime.

The word "aid" means all assistance whether given by words, acts, encouragement, support, or presence. A person who is present at the scene and ready to assist by his or her presence is aiding in the commission of the crime. However, more than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal activity of another must be shown to establish that a person present is an accomplice.

A person who is an accomplice in the commission of a crime is guilty of that crime whether present at the scene or not. CP 60.

The state argued in closing that because the Brentins were married, it was highly unlikely that they were each independently defrauding Faveluke. RP 877. The prosecutor said that Mr. Brentin was responsible as an accomplice because he got the benefit of Mrs. Brentin's actions. RP 881. In his rebuttal, the prosecutor returned to this theme. He again told the jury that Mrs. Brentin's use of some of the money to pay the couple's bills, Mr. Brentin was guilty as an accomplice. RP 937.

During deliberations, the jury sent out two questions. The first was "[i]f the jury finds that the defendant has knowledge, as defined by instruction #10, but the jury has reasonable doubt related to instruction #11, can the jury proceed with the charge of first degree theft?" CP 67. And the second was "[i]s knowledge of the amount by the defendant necessary for 1st or 2nd degree charge?" CP 68.

Both times, the court instructed the jury to review the instructions and keep deliberating. CP 67, 68.

The jury voted guilty on the charge of theft one. They also endorsed both aggravating factors. CP 3-4. Mr. Brentin, having no criminal history, was given double his standard range of six months in jail. RP 989; CP 3-16. He timely appealed. CP 20-34.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE FAILED TO INTRODUCE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE FIRST-DEGREE THEFT.

A. Standard of Review.

A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Budik*, 173 Wn.2d 727, 733, 272 P.3d 816 (2012). A conviction based on insufficient evidence must be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice. *Id*.

B. The prosecution produced insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Brentin obtained funds "by color or aid of deception."

The prosecution alleged that Mr. Brentin committed theft "by color or aid of deception." CP 1; RCW 9A.56.020(1)(b). The state's theory was that he solicited \$4,900 in campaign funds from Faveluke and promised to use it solely for campaign signs.⁴ RP 870-884, 929-940.

The evidence did not support this theory. Nothing in the record indicates that Mr. Brentin ever actually promised to use the money for campaign signs. Taking the evidence in a light most favorable to the state, the record suggests only that Faveluke may have discussed campaign signs

⁴ The prosecutor also theorized that he acted as an accomplice to Shari Brentin, who deceived Faveluke into thinking she needed funds to treat her sick cat.

with Mr. Brentin. It does not show that he ever made a particular promise as to how the money would be used.

At best, Mr. Brentin indicated he'd use the money to further his campaign. Given the negative publicity surrounding his debt, paying off the judgment fit within such any such promise. RP 746-748.

The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Brentin obtained money by color or aid of deception. He accepted Faveluke's generosity without making any specific promises. His conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice. *Budik*, 173 Wn.2d at 733.

C. The prosecution produced insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Brentin wrongfully obtained more than \$5,000.

To obtain a conviction for first-degree theft, the prosecution was required to prove that Mr. Brentin wrongfully obtained more than \$5,000. RCW 9A.56.030. The state sought to aggregate separate incidents to reach this threshold. The first incident involved \$4,900, which Faveluke gave Mr. Brentin on October 12, 2011.⁵ To make up the remainder, the prosecution asked jurors to impute Shari Brentin's actions to Mr. Brentin.⁶ RP 874-883.

⁵ The evidence showed that she wrote a check for \$5,000, but kept \$100 of that amount for herself. RP 505-506.

⁶ The state also introduced evidence that Faveluke gave Mr. Brentin an additional gift of \$500 in cash. RP 187, 248-249. Nothing in the record suggests that he improperly

Accomplice liability requires proof of two basic elements. First, the state must prove the accused person's knowledge that his actions would promote or facilitate commission of the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a). Second, the state must prove that the accused person either encouraged the crime or aided in its planning or commission. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a).

Here, the state did not introduce any evidence to show that Mr. Brentin encouraged or aided Shari Brentin. Indeed, the evidence suggested the contrary. Both Faveluke and Shari Brentin indicated that they'd agreed to keep the money relating to the vet bills secret. RP 207. Even if Mr. Brentin knew or should have known about his wife's malfeasance, such knowledge is insufficient to establish complicity. Neither his marriage to Shari Brentin nor the fact that he benefitted from her actions overcomes this deficiency. *See, e.g., State v. LaRue,* 74 Wn. App. 757, 762, 875 P.2d 701 (1994) (husband not guilty of welfare fraud absent proof of accomplice liability).

The state failed to prove the elements of first-degree theft. Mr. Brentin's conviction must be reversed. The charge must be dismissed with prejudice. *Budik*, 173 Wn.2d at 733.

obtained this gift. Nor did the prosecutor rely on this transaction in closing. RP 870-884, 929-940.

II. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE ADMITTED FAVELUKE'S OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENT TO DETECTIVE PLAZA.

A. Standard of Review.

The interpretation of an evidentiary rule presents a question of law, reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 419, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). If the trial court interpreted the rule correctly, the appellate court reviews the trial court's decision for an abuse of discretion.⁷ *Id*. An erroneous ruling requires reversal if there is a reasonable probability that it materially affected the outcome. *Id.*, at 433.

B. The state failed to establish the foundation for admission of Faveluke's out-of-court statement as a recorded recollection under ER 803(a)(5).

Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801. Absent an exception, hearsay is generally inadmissible at trial. ER 802. ER 803(a)(5) provides an exception for recorded recollections. The proponent of hearsay evidence must establish the

⁷ A trial court abuses its discretion when it makes a decision that is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 858, 204 P.3d 217 (2009). The improper admission of evidence requires reversal if there is a reasonable probability that it materially affected the outcome of the case. *State v. Fuller*, 169 Wn. App. 797, 831, 282 P.3d 126 (2012) *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1006, 297 P.3d 68 (2013).

required foundation for admission. *State v. Nava*, 311 P.3d 83, 92 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013).

To introduce a recorded recollection, the proponent must show that the record concerns "a matter about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately." ER 803(a)(5).

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