**NO. 44847-5-II CONSOL WITH 44877-7-II**  
**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF**  
**WASHINGTON,**  
**DIVISION II**

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**SHARI A. BRENTIN and**  
**ANTHONY D. BRENTIN,**

**Appellants.**

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

**SUSAN I. BAUR**  
**Prosecuting Attorney**  
**AARON BARTLETT/WSBA 39710**  
**Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**  
**Representing Respondent**

**HALL OF JUSTICE**  
**312 SW FIRST**  
**KELSO, WA 98626**  
**(360) 577-3080**

**

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

character trait must be limited to reputation. *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 887, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998); *See e.g. State v. Alexander*, 52 Wn.App 897, 901, 765 P.2d 321 (1988) (holding that specific act character evidence relating to the victim's alleged propensity for violence is not an essential element of self-defense).

Ms. Brentin appears to argue, however, that specific instances of conduct are an acceptable method of proof even when character is not an essential element of the charge or defense. Br. of App. S. Brentin at 16. Noting that the second sentence of ER 405(a) states that “[o]n cross examination, inquiry is allowable into relevant specific instances of conduct,” she contends subsection (a) allows proof by specific instances of conduct. *Id.* Appellate courts have rejected that reading of the rule, however, and held that reputation testimony is the exclusive way to prove character under ER 405(a) when the character of the victim is not an essential element of a “charge, claim, or defense.” *State v. Mercer-Drummer*, 128 Wn.App. 625, 630-32, 116 P.3d 454 (2005); *State v. O’Neill*, 58 Wn.App. 367, 370, 793 P.2d 977 (1990). Rather, the second sentence of ER 405(a) pertains to allowing the impeachment of an opposing party’s character witness by asking said witness whether they

have personal knowledge of specific incidents of (mis)conduct regarding the person for whom they appeared as a character witness. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 891, 822 P.2d 177 (1991).

Here, Ms. Faveluke's generosity cannot be said to be an essential element of the appellants' defense and Ms. Brentin does not argue otherwise. Consequently, the only allowable method of proof of Ms. Faveluke's generosity was through reputation testimony. Not only did appellants introduce substantial evidence of Ms. Faveluke's reputation for being generous, but the trial court allowed testimony through multiple witnesses about a specific instance of Ms. Faveluke's generosity, i.e., her \$20,000 gift to the owners of the Eager Beaver restaurant for the purposes of paying off their debt. Moreover, there were additional specific instances of Ms. Faveluke's generosity that ended up being testified to by Ms. Faveluke herself, to include donations to the Woodland Fire Department and Woodland Police Department and \$100 bills she gave out around Christmas time. A.B. RP 206

Thus, contrary to appellants' argument that they should have been able to admit into evidence even more instances of Ms. Faveluke's generosity, here, the trial court allowed testimony about a specific instance

of generosity that ER 404(a) and ER 405 do not allow. As a result, the trial court did not err to the appellants' detriment in its application of the evidence rules concerning Ms. Faveluke's character. Instead, appellants had many more specific instances of Ms. Faveluke's generosity admitted into evidence than which they were entitled under the evidence rules.

Under the Constitution, States' have "broad latitude . . . to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials." *Donald*, 178 Wn.App at 263. That said, a criminal defendant's "constitutional right to a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense limits this latitude." *Id.* (citation and internal quotations omitted). "An evidence rule abridges this right when it infringes upon a weighty interest of the defendant and is arbitrary or disproportionate to the purpose it was designed to serve." *Id.* Similarly, a defendant's right to present a defense is limited. *Id.* For instance, a defendant's right to present a defense is "subject to reasonable restrictions and must yield to 'established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence.'" *Id.* at 263-64 (quoting *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)). A violation of a defendant's right to present a complete defense is subject to harmless error



analysis. *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 928-29, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). “A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error.” *Id.*

Here, the appellants were allowed to and did present complete defenses. As mentioned above, not only did appellants introduce substantial evidence of Ms. Faveluke’s reputation for being generous, but the trial court allowed testimony through multiple witnesses about a specific instance of Ms. Faveluke’s generosity, i.e., her \$20,000 gift to the owners of the Eager Beaver restaurant for the purposes of paying off their debt. Moreover, there were additional specific instances of Ms. Faveluke’s generosity that ended up being testified to by Ms. Faveluke herself, to include donations to the Woodland Fire Department and Woodland Police Department and \$100 bills she gave out around Christmas time.

Importantly, Ms. Brentin spent extensive time in her closing argument talking about the evidence of Ms. Faveluke’s generosity and arguing that such generosity helped to create a reasonable doubt that she was guilty. A.B. RP 894-897, 900. Meanwhile, for Mr. Brentin the

evidence of Ms. Faveluke's generosity was not important enough to his defense to even be considered on the periphery during his closing argument. A.B. RP 903-929. Consequently, it is difficult to believe that Mr. Brentin was prevented from presenting his complete defense on the basis that additional evidence of Ms. Faveluke's generosity was not introduced during trial.

Additionally, the Brentins failed to make sufficient offers of proof regarding the other alleged specific instances of Ms. Faveluke's generosity. A.B. RP 126, 132-33, 138-139, 157-158. The offers of proof that were made were vague as to the time, place, and/or purpose of the gifts. A.B. RP 126, 132-33, 138-139, 157-158. Notably, not a single offer of proof included a cash gift to a person with no strings attached. Instead, each purported gift was made either to an organization or to a specific person for a specific purpose. A.B. RP 126, 132-33, 138-139, 157-158. Thus, even if there were admissible evidence out there that was central to ability of the Brentins to present a complete defense such an offer of proof was not made to the trial court.

Finally, even if the trial court erred in preventing the Brentins from cross examining Ms. Faveluke concerning specific instances of her

generosity the error was harmless. Any reasonable jury would have reached the same result as additional evidence of her generosity would not have realistically changed the core facts of the case or the reasonable inferences from the evidence presented.

**2) THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY ADMIT HEARSAY EVIDENCE AS THE STATEMENTS WERE NOT OFFERED FOR THE TRUTH OF THE MATTER ASSERTED AND/OR PROPERLY ADMITTED UNDER ER 803(A)(3).**

“Questions of relevancy and the admissibility of testimonial evidence are within the discretion of the trial court, and we review them only for manifest abuse of discretion.” *Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d at 361; *Martin*, 169 Wn.App. at 628 (“The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and an appellate court will not disturb that decision unless no reasonable person would adopt the trial court’s view.”) (citations omitted). When a trial court’s ruling on such matters of evidence is in error, reversal will only be required “if there is a reasonable possibility that the testimony would have changed the outcome of trial.” *Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d at 361 (citing *Fankhouser*, 133 Wn.App. at 695. Moreover, appellate courts “may affirm the trial court’s ruling on any grounds the record supports, including those the trial court did not

explicitly articulate.” *State v. Moore*, 178 Wn.App. 489, 498, 314 P.3d 1137 (2013) (citing *State v. Ginn*, 128 Wn.App. 872, 884 n. 9, 117 P.3d 1155 (2005)).

“Whether a statement is hearsay depends upon the purpose for which the statement is offered. Statements not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, but rather as a basis for inferring something else, are not hearsay.” *State v. Garcia*, 179 Wn.2d 828, 318 P.3d 266, 276 (2014) (citation omitted). Thus, statements offered to prove a declarant’s intent can be offered for that purpose rather than for the truth of the matter asserted. *Id.* Similarly, “[a] statement is not hearsay if it is used only to show the effect on the listener, without regard to the truth of the statement.” *State v. Edwards*, 131 Wn.App. 611, 614, 128 P.3d 631 (citing *State v. Roberts*, 80 Wn.App. 342, 352–53, 908 P.2d 892 (1996)).

In addition, ER 803(a)(3), provides an exception to the hearsay rule for statements “of the declarant's then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health.” Under that exception, hearsay statements may be offered “to prove that the declarant acted in accordance with statements of future intent.” *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 266,

893 P.2d 615 (1995) (citing *State v. Terrovona*, 105 Wn.2d 632, 642, 716 P.2d 295 (1986)).

*State v. Crowder* is instructive. 103 Wn.App. 20, 11 P.3d 828 (2000). There, the defendant was convicted of one count of Theft in the First Degree for the embezzlement of funds from the estate of an elderly man. *Id.* at 22. On appeal, the defendant challenged the trial court's admission of the victim's out-of-court statements through other individuals, which related primarily to her management of his financial affairs. *Id.* *Crowder* held that five of the six statements were admissible under ER 803(a)(3). *Id.* at 26-28. For example, the victim's attorney testified that the victim told her "I want Holofa to be my guardian, she's my daughter, I want Holofa to be my Power of Attorney." *Id.* at 27. The reviewing court found that this statement "was a statement of intent and motive, and thus excepted from the hearsay rule." *Id.* (citing ER 803(a)(5)). Similarly, the victim told a legal assistant in regard to the defendant's spending that he was going to "pull in the purse strings." *Id.* at 26. Likewise, *Crowder* held that "[t]his statement also was admissible as evidence of the existing mental or emotional condition, showing the intent of the declarant at the time spoken. ER 803(a)(3). The statement

was not offered to prove that [the victim] “pull(ed) in the purse strings,” which he did not do, but rather to serve as circumstantial evidence of [the defendant’s] influence.” *Id.*

Here, the trial court correctly admitted statements by Ms. Faveluke through the various bank employees. Each testified to what Ms. Faveluke’s said she intended to do with the money, i.e., her plan, and thus, such testimony was admissible pursuant ER 803(a)(3). Additionally, the statements were not offered to prove that all of the money that Ms. Faveluke gave to Ms. Brentin was used to take care of Ms. Brentin’s cat because it was undisputed that Ms. Brentin spent thousands of those dollars on other things, but rather to serve as circumstantial evidence of Ms. Faveluke’s state of mind at the time these withdrawals were taking place and of Ms. Brentin’s influence over her. *Garcia*, 318 P.3d at 276 (“Statements not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, but rather as a basis for inferring something else, are not hearsay.”). Applying *Crowder* and ER 803(a)(5) to this case is straightforward; the statements were admissible.

Even if the statements were admitted in error, however, there is not a reasonable possibility that the testimony would have changed the

outcome of trial because Ms. Faveluke testified as to why she gave Ms. Brentin the money and that testimony was corroborated by her written statement.

**3) NO WITNESS TESTIFIED TO HIS OR HER OPINION OF MS. BRENTIN'S GUILT.**

The general rule is that no witness may “testify to his opinion as to the guilt of a defendant, whether by direct statement or inference.” *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). Our Supreme Court has, however, “expressly declined to take an expansive view of claims that testimony constitutes an opinion of guilt.” *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 760, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (quoting *City of Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. 573, 579, 854 P.2d 658 (1993)). “Testimony that is not a direct comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion testimony.” *State v. Notaro*, 161 Wn.App 654, 662, 255 P.3d 774 (2011) (quoting *Heatley*, 70 Wn.App at 578). In other words, lay witnesses may offer opinion testimony. *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) (“Lay witnesses also may [] give opinions or inferences based upon rational perceptions. . . .”). To

help determine whether statements are impermissible opinion testimony, a court will consider (1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact. *Id.* at 590.

Here, Teresa Loucks did not testify as to her opinion of Ms. Brentin's guilt. Ms. Loucks had been working in the banking industry for 38 years and was acting manager at the Woodland US Bank during the incidents in question and testified at length. A.B. RP 261-314. She explained that as part of her duties she tries to keep an eye out for problematic and fraudulent transactions by getting to know her customers' banking habits, that she paid special attention to her elderly customers and how they were doing, and that at the time of the incidents she had known Ms. Faveluke for at least six years. A.B. RP 264-66. Near the end of her testimony she was asked if she had been trying to get in touch with the police and she responded "Yes." A.B. RP 301-02. She was also asked if she tried to get in touch with Adult Protective Services and she responded "Yes. And our fraud department." A.B. RP 302. Ms. Loucks was asked if she ended up speaking with the police and whether she provided them information and other materials, she responded "Yes, I did" and "Yes"



respectively. A.B. RP 303. Ms. Loucks offered no additional testimony concerning her contact with the police, Adult Protective Services, or her fraud department. A.B. RP 264-314.

Ms. Loucks's testimony contained no direct opinion on Ms. Brentin's guilt or on her credibility. Rather, she testified to objective facts and by acknowledging that she contacted to police, her testimony only informed the jury as to how the police came to be involved in the matter. Importantly, to the extent that Ms. Loucks's testimony included her opinion, that opinion was based solely on her experience in the banking industry and her observations of the change in Ms. Faveluke's banking habits, personality, and physical appearance, all of which coincided with when Ms. Brentin began appearing in the bank with her.

Thus, this evidentiary foundation directly and logically supported Ms. Loucks's concern, if it can be said that acknowledging she called a couple agencies in response to what was happening informed the jury of her opinion. At most, Ms. Louck's simple acknowledgment that she called the police and Adult Protective Services allowed the jury to infer she was concerned about what was going on. But her concern or suspicion about what was going on, which would have been evident by all the other

objective facts to which she testified, does not rise to the level of an opinion that Ms. Brentin was guilty of the crime charged.

Moreover, the jury was in a position to independently assess the opinion, if one was proffered, in light of the foundation evidence. Ms. Loucks was available for cross examination and the jury was instructed that it was the sole judge of credibility and the weight to be accorded the testimony of each witness. In sum, Ms. Loucks did not improperly offer her opinion as to Ms. Brentin's guilt, if part of her testimony included her opinion it was proper, and even if it was improper the error was harmless as it is beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have reached the same result in the absence of Ms. Loucks answering in the affirmative that she contacted the police and Adult Protective Services.

**4) THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.**

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

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